IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

 	SCA EFiled: Dec 19 2022
Appeal No. 22-706	11:47PM EST Transaction ID 68676768
State of West Virginia,	
Plaintiff-below, Respondent	
V.	
Richard Dane Small,	
Defendant-below, Petitioner	
PETITIONER'S BRIEF	

Appeal from the Berkeley County Circuit Court Case No. 20-F-212 The Honorable Michael Lorensen

Kevin D. Mills Attorney for Petitioner WV Bar No. 2572 The Criminal Law Center 1800 West King Street Martinsburg, WV 25401 P: (304) 262-9300 F: (304) 262-9310

kmills@wvacriminaldefense.com

Shawn R. McDermott
Attorney for Petitioner
WV Bar No. 11264
The Criminal Law Center
1800 West King Street
Martinsburg, WV 25401
P: (304) 262-9300

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Whether Mr. Small's constitutional rights were violated where both he and his counsel were absent from two hearings that were critical stages of the criminal proceeding where the court decided the substantial legal issue of severance of the co-defendants and where the court heard evidence and decided the issue of the admissibility of 404(b) evidence?
- 2. Whether Mr. Small's constitutional and procedural rights to due process were violated by the State's failure to provide him notice of the 404(b) evidence that it intended to introduce against Mr. Small's Co-Defendant, Mr. Mason?
- 3. Whether the prejudicial spillover effect of evidence offered against Mr. Mason regarding gang affiliation and drug trafficking unduly prejudiced Mr. Small's ability to have a fair trial where the proffered evidence was not admissible against Mr. Small, was extremely prejudicial and inflammatory, was minimally relevant, and was cumulative?
- 4. Whether the circuit court erred in failing to sever Mr. Small's and Mr. Mason's trials where the evidence presented against Mr. Mason had a prejudicial spillover effect on Mr. Small.
- 5. Whether the circuit court erred in failing to conduct an evidentiary hearing on the issue of Mr. Small's supposed waiver of *Miranda* and the circumstances surrounding his invocation to right of counsel?
- 6. Whether the circuit court erred in failing to suppress Mr. Small's statement to law enforcement where Mr. Small unequivocally invoked his right to counsel immediately following his *Miranda* warning?
- 7. Whether the State improperly commented on Mr. Small's invocation of his right to remain silent during closing argument of the mercy phase of the jury trial?

8. Whether the State improperly directed the jury regarding the law concerning the mercy phase of the jury trial?

STATEMENT OF CASE

This appeal is taken from Richard Small's conviction and sentence (along with his co-defendant Joseph Mason) for first degree murder and conspiracy to commit murder and sentence of life in prison without mercy.

On Saturday, June 28, 2014 at approximately 3:34 a.m., Taylor Hawkridge was fatally shot in the facial area while standing near her residence. App. 1641.

In October of 2017, a Berkeley County jury found Nasstashia Powell (VanCamp) guilty of second degree murder in the killing of Ms. Hawkridge in case number 2015-F-132. The Berkeley County Circuit Court sentenced Ms. Powell to forty-five (45) years in the penitentiary based upon the conviction and a recidivist enhancement. Following her conviction and sentence, Ms. Powell filed a motion for reduction of sentence wherein she agreed to meet with investigators and implicated both Joseph Mason and Richard Small in the murder of Ms. Hawkridge.

On October 21, 2020, a Berkeley County Grand Jury indicted Mr. Small and Mr. Mason both for one count of murder and one count of conspiracy to commit murder. App. 55.

Despite being indicted jointly, both Mr. Small and Mr. Mason had different case numbers for purposes of the West Virginia e-filing system-- Mr. Small was under case number 20-F-212, App. 1, while Mr. Mason was under case number 20-F-213. App. 28. In practical effect, this meant that if a motion, notice, or order was only filed in one of the defendant's cases, the other defendant and his counsel would not receive notice or service. Aware of this issue, counsel for Mr. Small filed a motion on September 17, 2021 to continue the trial and to consolidate the

co-defendants' cases, stating "Additionally, Defendant's [sic] would also jointly request that the two Defendants' cases be joined within the Court's e-filing system. Currently, the Defendants are not receiving the filings made by the other, which they are entitled to so long as the case remains joined." App. 95.

The basis for the State's case against Mr. Small (and Mr. Mason) was the statements and trial testimony of Nasstashia Powell, who after being indicted for murder, gave a statement to police in April of 2016 that implicated Mr. Small as the shooter for the first time. App. 674. Ms. Powell, through the course of litigation against her and even after her conviction, gave multiple evolving and changing statements to the police about the shooting. Ms. Powell's testimony, plus expert testimony regarding cell phone tower pinging of Ms. Powell's and Mr. Small's cell phones that purportedly put their location near the scene of the shooting and toolmark identification of the firearm that Ms. Powell alleged was used in the shooting formed the gravamen of the State's case against Mr. Small. The State's theory of the prosecution was that Ms. Powell, Mr. Mason, and Mr. Small agreed to and carried out the murder of Ms. Hawkridge at the behest of an unindicted co-conspirator, Armistead Craig, because they had learned that she was a confidential informant working for law enforcement.

Mr. Small's counsel did not call any witnesses, and Mr. Small did not testify at trial.

I. MOTION FOR SEVERANCE

On July 2, 2021, Mr. Mason filed a motion for a separate trial from Mr. Small. App. 61. The State filed a response objecting to severance. App. 63. A hearing on the issue of severance was conducted by Berkeley County Circuit Court Chief Judge Michael Lorensen on July 12, 2021. App. 66. Neither Mr. Small nor his counsel were present at the hearing. During the hearing, the court asked counsel for Mr. Mason whether there was any piece of evidence that

would be admissible against Mr. Small but not admissible against Mr. Mason, and counsel was unable to specify any piece of such evidence. App. 79-80. The court denied the motion to sever at that time but invited counsel to refile such a motion if any subsequent issue arose. App. 81, 84.

At the pre-trial hearing on March 16, 2022, Mr. Small's counsel again raised the issue of severance in the context of the State intending to introduce social media posts of Co-Defendant Mason that made reference to his involvement with the Crips gang. Counsel for Mr. Small stated, "So I'm concerned not only of what the social media posts of my client, but of the social media posts of his co-defendant's, unless this is severed, which obviously there is no desire by the State to do so." App. 282-83. The court ruled that it would not reopen the issue of severance.

And that's, you know, that was a severance thing, and the train has left that station. You know, the motion for severance has been heard, based on what I had in front of me, it is denied, and we need the particularized prejudice and the specific item that you can't try your case with, and you know, we went through that thoroughly with Mr. Mason. I'm not doing that again.

So, you know, he said he's not offering gang evidence against your guy.

App. 298.

II. 404(B) EVIDENCE

On January 20, 2021, Mr. Mason's counsel filed a motion *in limine* to preclude the State from introducing certain social media posts of Mr. Mason. App. 98. On that same date, the State filed its notice of intent to admit intrinsic evidence or 404(b) evidence. App. 101.

Co-defendant's motion and the State's notice were only filed under Mr. Mason's case number-20-F-213, depriving Mr. Small notice of these filings.

On September 23, 2021, counsel for Mr. Small filed a motion to exclude social media posts that referenced Co-Defendant Mason's affiliation in the Crips gang. App. 110.

On September 27, 2021, with the agreement of the parties, the court continued the pre-trial and trial. App. 116. The trial was continued until February 1, 2022 and the pre-trial was rescheduled for January 21, 2022. *Id.* The court further ordered the State to clarify its notice of intrinsic and/or 404(b) evidence and to attach specific exhibits to the State's notice prior to the pretrial hearing. *Id.*

On January 10, 2022, counsel for Mr. Small filed a motion to continue the pre-trial scheduled for January 21, 2022 due to a scheduling conflict. App. 120. The court granted the motion and continued Mr. Small's pre-trial until January 24, 2022. App. 138. However, the court did not continue the pre-trial of Co-Defendant Mason.

On January 21, 2022, a pretrial hearing was held on the issue of the 404(b) evidence that had been proffered by the State. App. 139. Neither Mr. Small nor his counsel were present.

App. 139.

At the hearing, the State called Sgt. Jonathan Bowman of the West Virginia State Police as a witness. App. 142. Sgt. Bowman testified regarding Mr. Mason's social media account, his nickname of Cracc, and Mr. Mason's affiliation with the Crips gang. App. 145. The State introduced exhibits 1A through 1J for the purpose of showing the social media posts that it intended to introduce at trial. App. 149. The court held that the social media posts were relevant and not unduly prejudicial. App. 173-74.

As to the 404(b) evidence, the State indicated that it intended to enter into evidence Defendant Mason's drug dealing, Mr. Mason's membership in the Crips gang, and Mr. Mason's animus toward informants. App. 176. The State argued, "I don't see how we can try this case

and tell the jury what and why everything happened without mentioning the fact that he is a Crip member." App. 178. Following argument from Co-Defendant Mason's counsel, the court found that the evidence was admissible under 404(b) for purposes of motive and identity. App. 195-96.

At the pre-trial hearing on March 16, 2022, counsel for Mr. Small addressed the issue of 404(b) evidence, first arguing that he did not have proper notice from the State.

Mr. Riddell: Here's the procedural issue: There was no 404(b) notice filed in my case.

The Court: It it goes to conspiracy or murder, it doesn't matter....

Mr. Riddell: My procedural issue for the record is that I think it is incumbent upon the State whenever there is a piece of evidence that involves some kind of potential prior bad act, to file a notice and have a hearing where they—where they make a showing that it is an actual permitted use under Rule 404(b). That has not happened here. So on that basis, I moved for the exclusion of all such evidence.

App. 288-89.

The State argued that the court had already ruled upon the admissibility of the 404(b) evidence, including gang affiliation evidence against Mr. Mason, and that it did not intend to directly introduce any gang affiliation (Mr. Small was purportedly involved with the Bloods gang) evidence or evidence of Mr. Small's prior convictions directly against Mr. Small. App. 297.

Counsel for Mr. Small indicated that he was still concerned about the prejudice for his client of the gang affiliation evidence coming in for Mr. Mason. However, the court ruled that Mr. Small's counsel was foreclosed from arguing about Mr. Mason's evidence.

Mr. Riddell: I'm concerned, Your Honor, about the fact that--

The Court: You won't take yes for an answer?

Mr. Riddell: No, I'm concerned about Mr. Mason's apparent--

The Court: Well, you know what, you can't complain about the strength of a case against a co-defendant. It is part of his-- it explains the moniker he gives himself. I mean, you can't-- well, I have ruled on that, and you're not going to argue about Mr. Mason's case. You're going to argue about Mr. Small's case.

Mr. Riddell: Right.

The Court: And the fact that if he has got a moniker that he uses on Facebook, or what other social media might be out there, I mean, that's simply proof of identification. And that's what we're talking about.

And that's, you know, that was a severance thing, and the train has left that station. You know, the motion for severance has been heard, based on what I had in front of me, it is denied, and we need the particularized prejudice and the specific item that you can't try your case with, and you know, we went through that thoroughly with Mr. Mason. I'm not doing that again.

So, you know, he said he's not offering gang evidence against your guy.

App. 297-98.

Counsel for Mr. Mason then raised the issue that there may be prejudice to his client not to be able to elicit evidence of Mr. Small's purported gang affiliation because Mr. Small's and Mr. Mason's affiliation with rival gangs would be circumstantial evidence that Mr. Small and Mr. Mason did not conspire together. The court deferred ruling on that issue until it became an issue at trial and the further colloquy on the gang affiliation devolved into discussion of the gangs' respective colors and what the defendants would be wearing at trial.¹

Mr. Sutton: Your Honor, one of the issues that could come up in this case, and probably why the State does not want to introduce whether or not he's a member of the Bloods, my client is a member of the Crips, is those two individuals do not generally get along... And so it could be prejudicial against my client for that information not to be able to be disclosed.

The Court: Do I need to regulate the color of-- I don't know if they are coming with open collared shirts, or wearing ties as opposed to-- red ties could give away certain loyalties. I understand that the gangs associates themselves with certain colors?

Mr. Sutton: That's correct, Your Honor.

The Court: So, that might be-- well, never mind. Neutral colors, I guess. It is like when I went to judicial college, the establishment we were staying in, they were having an event that week, and they said no gang colors. So we'll have to assure ourselves of

¹ Counsel for co-Defendant Mason elicited testimony at trial that Armistead Craig, an unindicted co-conspirator, was a member of the Bloods gang but did not elicit any testimony regarding Mr. Small's supposed Bloods affiliation. App. 562, 827.

neutral color attire when we come to court, because you guys are going to be in street clothes. Because your custodial status is none of the jury's business.

Mr. Riddell: It is all right if I wear blue, Your Honor? It is my lucky suit.

The Court: No one-- unless someone is putting you in a gang, no, you can wear whatever you like.

App. 298-300.

During direct examination of the State's first witness, Investigator Brian Bean, the State elicited testimony that the "loc" portion of the name "craccloc," which was a moniker used by Mr. Mason, was a term for "Love of Crips." App. 551-553. Counsel for Mr. Small objected to this testimony on grounds Investigator Bean did not have any expert knowledge regarding gang affiliation, but the objection was overruled by the court. App. 552. Investigator Bean further described the Crips gang and that though they were originally an African American gang, the gang had expanded into other ethnic areas (since Mr. Mason is a Caucasian). App. 553.

During the State's examination of Dave Boober, further testimony was elicited regarding the co-Defendant's drug dealing and gang affiliation through admission of certain cell phone records. App. 609-618. Counsel for Mr. Small objected to admission of these records, arguing that they were not relevant, unduly prejudicial, and improper 404(b) evidence. App. 609-10. The State referenced that the 404(b) notice was filed in the co-Defendant's case, but not under Mr. Small's case, and counsel for Mr. Small argued the prejudicial effect of joint trial as well as his lack of notice of the 404(b) evidence because he was not present at the 404(b) hearing and never received notice of the evidence from the State. App. 611. The court ruled that it would allow the introduction of such evidence. App. 612. The court held,

...I appreciate the fact that they are jointly indicted. It is not going to be a totally symmetrical case against both accused.... And for the purposes of... there was a 404(b) notice. This is relevant to identification, if not motive. And so I was letting it in as to Mr. Mason, and it doesn't bear directly on your client. It may inferentially and circumnavigate it, get to your client, but I'm going to stick with my pretrial ruling. And I'll note your exception.

App. 612.

During the testimony of Sgt. Bowman, the State again elicited testimony regarding the significance of "LOC" over the objection of Mr. Small's counsel. App. 660. Sgt. Bowman further testified regarding the theme of gang affiliation throughout the co-Defendant's Instagram posts. App. 704-05.

The State also elicited from Sgt. Bowman testimony regarding a picture on Mr. Small's Instagram profile that contained Mr. Small's son and a pile of cash. App. 706. Counsel for Mr. Small objected to the testimony and the exhibit being admitted, arguing that it was not relevant, it was prejudicial, and he had not received proper notice, but the court overruled the objection. App. 709-12.

The State also introduced a social media post that both Mr. Small and Mr. Mason interacted with discussing "rats." App. 717-18. Counsel for Mr. Small objected, but the court allowed its admission. App. 718.

Counsel for Mr. Small also objected to another exhibit that purported to show an interaction between Mr. Small and Mr. Mason's Craccloc social media profile, arguing that the State failed to properly disclose it. App. 720.

Mr. Riddell: So, I think you got two potential disclosure issues here. One is that I didn't recollect seeing this in discovery. Now after we called up to the sidebar, I just spoke with Mr. Kinser. He's telling me he disclosed it. I'm inclined to believe him, frankly, but... this was also not disclosed to us when we had that 404(b) discussion about the social media posts, this was not disclosed as one of those... I think we have a disclosure issue here...

Mr. Kinser: Disclosure. As you can see on the post itself, it is page 342 of-- we provided all the social media records, so it should be there. I will say this, the actual post itself, the front is not particularly relevant, and I don't care to get rid of it. But I needed to establish that it was a post from one defendant, and a comment comes from the other defendant. It is to show the conspiracy, and he puts out that phone number just shortly before the murder of June 24. So four days prior to the murder....

The Court: All right. Your objection was disclosure. It has been disclosed, I mean, do you want me to go through the discovery? I'll do that during the lunch hour.

Mr. Riddell: No, I believe he sent it.

The Court: Well, then we don't have a disclosure problem.

Mr. Riddell: I'm raising it as --

The Court: It is communication between the defendants. It is not 404(b) to show that people who conspire are communicating with each other. I mean--

Mr. Riddell: If he is going to remove this section of 2, then, it removes the 404(b) consideration. But I just wanted to point out for the record that he's already introduced evidence that--

The Court: All right. So here's the way it works, I ask for your objection. You gave me your objection. I heard the State's. I ruled. Now it is over. So now we go back and we resume the trial. So, you know, here's what-- and I'm just trying to add some orderliness to this because we can go round Robin. And just as the house rule is, you make your objection, I hear from the State, if I need to. If I can understand it in context and rule based upon the objection, and what I have heard from the stand, I'll make a ruling, just to kind of keep things moving along. The way this trial stays within one week is that you do not start arguing with me after I have made my ruling, Mr. Riddell. See--Mr. Riddell: Yes, sir.

The Court: I want you to understand this, because apparently this is not the way you operate. In my court once I ruled, argument-- your objection is saved, we move on. All right? So I want us to get along. I want us to get the whole case put to a jury in a reasonable fashion. That's not going to happen if every point is argued, reargued, and reargued again. You argue it once, I make a ruling, the thing is done. I have either screwed it up or I haven't. So you can go sit down now, and if there's another question to which an objection would be appropriate, you can make it at that time. Bench conference over.

App. 721-23.

In closing argument, the State drew the jury's attention to the co-defendant's posts about gang affiliation, stating "This is Crip life. This is Craccloc141." App. 1219.

III. MR. SMALL'S STATEMENTS TO POLICE

On September 14, 2016, Cpl. Bowman interviewed Mr. Small at the Chesapeake Detention Facility in Baltimore, Maryland, where Mr. Small was serving a sentence on a previous conviction for human trafficking. App. 1673-74.

Cpl. Bowman and Sgt. See interviewed Mr. Small for a second time at the Chesapeake Detention Facility on June 26, 2018. App. 1693-95.

Neither the September 14, 2016 nor the June 26, 2018 statement were recorded. App. 680.

In Sgt. Bowman's police report he indicates,

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