IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGEREFILED: Feb 02 2023 03:59PM EST Transaction ID 69062484

Docket No. 22-706

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

RICHARD DANE SMALL,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the August 19, 2022, Order Circuit Court of Berkeley County Case No. 20-F-212

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

WILLIAM E. LONGWELL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL West Virginia State Bar No. 12290 Office of the Attorney General 1900 Kanawha Blvd. E. State Capitol, Bldg. 6, Ste. 406 Charleston, WV 25305 Tel: (304) 558-5830 Fax: (304) 558-5833 Email: William.E.Longwell@wvago.gov

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

Petitioner asserts that his due process rights were violated by the State's failure to provide him proper notice of its intent to introduce evidence of his co-defendant's gang affiliations and prior drug trafficking activities. Pet'r's Br. at 21. Although Petitioner's argument in support of this claim relies heavily on this Court's decision in *State v. McGinnis*, 193 W. Va. 147, 455 S.E.2d 516 (1994), his argument provides no support for the specific claim that he is entitled to notice of 404(b) evidence relating entirely to another person, simply because he is that person's codefendant. Moreover, the circuit court's conclusion that the evidence in question was intrinsic

³ Because Petitioner raises various claims that call for differing standards of review, Respondent will identify the appropriate standard when addressing each claim advanced by Petitioner.

renders any claim that Petitioner was not provided proper notice moot, as intrinsic evidence is not governed by Rule 404(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence.

In reviewing claims as to the admission of evidence, this Court has held that: "A trial Court's evidentiary rulings, as well as its application of the Rules of Evidence, are subject to review under an abuse of discretion standard." Syl. Pt. 4, *State v. Rodoussakis*, 204 W. Va. 58, 511 S.E.2d 469 (1998). Regarding the trial court's decision to admit the evidence, "[A]n appellate court reviews *de novo* the legal analysis underlying a trial court's decision." *State v. Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 680, 461 S.E.2d 163, 186 (1995).

The purpose behind Rule 404(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence is to:

prevent the conviction of an accused for one crime by the use of evidence that he has committed other crimes, and to preclude the inference that because he had committed other crimes previously, he was more liable to commit the crime for which he is presently indicted and being tried.

State v. McDaniel, 211 W. Va. 9, 12, 560 S.E.2d 484, 487 (2001) (quoting *State v. Thomas*, 157 W. Va. 640, 654, 203 S.E.2d 445, 455 (1974)). In other words, Rule 404(b) exists to prevent the State from improperly arguing to a jury that because a particular defendant engaged in some criminal conduct or other similar act in the past, that he or she is more likely to commit the crime for which he or she is charged. The admission of crimes, wrongs, or other bad acts, however, is admissible if offered to prove something other than a defendant's propensity to commit a particular crime, such as the defendant's motive, intent, opportunity, identity, or any other number of factors. W. Va. R. Evid. 404(b)(2). When a party intends to offer evidence pursuant to Rule 404(b), they most provide the opposing party with "reasonable notice" of such intent, as well as the specific purpose for which it will be offered. W. Va. R. Evid. 404(b)(2)(A). This notice provision is not, however, a hard-line rule, as Rule 404(b)(2)(B) specifically contemplates that disclosure may be

appropriately made at trial upon the offering party's ability to demonstrate good cause for the lack of pretrial notice.

The facts presented in the instant case, however, do not call for this Court to conduct its typical 404(b) analysis because the evidence in question was not offered by the State for any purpose related to Petitioner. Indeed, the evidence dealt entirely with Petitioner's co-defendant, with whom Petitioner was tried jointly. A.R. 101-04.

Petitioner's claim that he was entitled to pretrial notice of the State's intent to offer the purported 404(b) evidence is misplaced for two primary reasons: (1) the evidence was not 404(b) evidence, as the circuit court concluded, thus rendering 404(b) inapplicable to such evidence; and (2) the evidence contained no proof of any fact relevant to Petitioner's guilt of the charged offense. "This Court has consistently held that evidence which is 'intrinsic' to the indicted charge is not governed by Rule 404(b)." *State v. Harris*, 230 W. Va. 717, 722, 742 S.E.2d 133, 138 (2013). This Court also recognized "that evidence of criminal activity committed by the defendant . . . explaining the context of the crime charged, is not the type of evidence contemplated by Rule 404(b), and should therefore be admissible without regard to the limitations of the more stringent admission standards attached to Rule 404(b) evidence." *Id.* (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

Because the court determined that the evidence was not 404(b) evidence, the Rule necessarily does not apply, thus removing any notice requirement, even assuming that Petitioner had a right to notice in the first instance.

Moreover, a review of this Court's guidance to circuit courts addressing issues as to the admissibility of 404(b) evidence establishes that Petitioner had no right to notice. This Court has explained that, after a trial court has heard the evidence with respect to the admissibility of

potential 404(b) evidence, it must "be satisfied by a preponderance of the evidence that the acts or conduct occurred and that the defendant committed the acts." Syl. Pt. 6, in part, *State v. Rollins*, 233 W. Va. 715, 760 S.E.2d 529 (2014). With this in mind, Petitioner has not identified any information that he had which would be relevant to the circuit court's ability to make that determination.

Thus, if the evidence in question does not relate to any fact relevant to proving Petitioner's guilt, and Petitioner cannot identify any information or evidence he possessed that would have any relevance to the circuit court's determination as to the admissibility of the evidence, there can be no reasonable contention that Petitioner had a right to notice of the evidence. To be sure, Petitioner certainly has not identified any legal authority supporting his assertion that he was entitled to notice, and this Court's precedent clearly demonstrates that the circuit court's conclusion that the evidence was intrinsic removes it from the parameters of Rule 404(b). As such, Petitioner's claim that he was entitled to notice is wholly unsupported by the relevant legal authorities, and should be rejected by this Court.

B. <u>The hearing upon the State's notice of intent to admit intrinsic or</u> <u>404(b) evidence was not a "critical stage" as it relates to Petitioner's</u> <u>case, and, therefore, he was not entitled to be present. If his absence</u> <u>constituted error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.⁴</u>

Petitioner also complains that his due process rights were violated when he and his counsel were absent from what he claims was a "critical stage of the criminal prosecution." Pet'r's Br. at 15. While there is no dispute as to the absence of Petitioner and his attorney from the hearing

⁴ Petitioner also makes a similar claim as to his absence at a hearing with respect to his codefendant's motion to sever their criminal trials. Respondent will address such claim in the section addressing Petitioner's assignment regarding the circuit court's failure to grant a severance.

related to the State's notice as to the admission of intrinsic evidence, Petitioner's claim that such hearing was a "critical stage" as to his case is misplaced.

"The general right of a criminal defendant to be present during courtroom proceedings is addressed through the interpretation of the state constitution, a Court rule and statute. Consequently, our review of the issue raised in this case is plenary." *State v. Sites*, 241 W. Va. 430, 443, 825 S.E.2d 758, 771 (2019) (citing *Richmond v. Levin*, 219 W. Va. 512, 515, 637 S.E.2d 610, 613 (2006)).

As this Court has noted, "there are two defenses available when it is claimed that the accused's absence creates reversible error. The first is that the absence occurred at a non-critical stage of the criminal proceeding. The second is that even if at a critical stage, it was harmless error." *State v. Boyd*, 160 W. Va. 234, 247, 233 S.E.2d 710, 719 (1977).

"A critical stage of a criminal proceeding is where the defendant's right to a fair trial will be affected." Syl. Pt. 5, *State v. Brown*, 210 W. Va. 14, 552 S.E.2d 390 (2001) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Rule 43(c)(3) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that a defendant's presence is not required "at a conference or argument upon a technical question of law not depending upon facts within the personal knowledge of the defendant." This Court has also stated that "[a] defendant is constitutionally guaranteed the right to be present at any stage of the criminal proceeding that is critical to its outcome, if his or her presence would contribute to the fairness of the procedure." *State v. Tex B.S.* 236 W. Va. 261, 264, 778 S.E.2d 710, 713 (2015).

Respondent asserts that the hearing upon the State's notice of intent to introduce intrinsic evidence was not a "critical stage" of the criminal prosecution of Petitioner. The purported evidence dealt entirely with evidence related to his co-defendant, and contained nothing that could be remotely construed as 404(b) evidence or evidence related to Petitioner's guilt. There is nothing in the record, nor does Petitioner identify, any personal knowledge he had that would have been relevant in the circuit court's decision.

In the alternative, should this Court construe the hearing as a "critical stage" of Petitioner's proceedings and that his absence was in error, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. For more than forty-years, this Court has recognized that "the critical stage requirement is . . . subject to the harmless error test." Boyd, 160 W. Va. at 247, 233 S.E.2d 710 at 719. This Court has recognized "that given 'the reality of human fallibility of the participants, there can be no such thing as an error-free, perfect trial, and the Constitution does not guarantee such a trial." *Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. at 684, 461 S.E.2d at 190. (quoting United States v. Hasting, 461 U.S. 499, 508-09 (1983)). This Court went on to note that "an appellate court should not exercise its '[s]upervisory power to reverse a conviction . . . when the error to which it is addressed is harmless since, by definition, the conviction would have been obtained notwithstanding the asserted error." Id. (quoting Hastings, 461 U.S. at 506). "The harmless error doctrine requires this Court to consider the error in light of the record as a whole." Id. In order to prevail on a theory that a defendant's absence from a critical stage of the proceedings is harmless, this Court has held that the State "must take the responsibility of preserving a record of such critical stage, in order that it can be shown beyond a reasonable doubt" that the defendant's absence was harmless. Boyd, 160 W. Va. at 247, 233 S.E.2d 710 at 719.

The record as a whole reveals that Petitioner suffered no prejudice as a result of his absence from the 404(b) hearing. As noted above, the circuit court found that the evidence was intrinsic to the charged offenses, and related solely to Petitioner's co-defendant. The evidence discussed in the 404(b) hearing was not such that Petitioner could have reasonably argued that it would not be admissible in the course of a joint trial. It was not prior bad act evidence, and was relevant to establish Mr. Mason's involvement in the crime, since he was not present during the murder, nor did he pull the trigger. Indeed, the evidence the State possessed in support of Petitioner's guilt was direct evidence from an eyewitness who was present when Petitioner murdered Ms. Hawkridge, and assisted Petitioner in fleeing the scene. For good measure, the circuit court granted Petitioner's motion for a jury instruction explaining that the jury was to consider the charges against each defendant individually. A.R. 1369, 1387.

The evidence presented at trial specifically related to Petitioner's guilt was overwhelming. The State elicited testimony from a co-conspirator who testified that Petitioner was the person who shot and killed Ms. Hawkridge. A.R. 683, 858-59. The State further elicited various cell phone records containing communications between Petitioner, Mr. Mason, and Ms. Van Camp regarding the murder. *See generally*, A.R. 664-66, 671-72, 676-79. Petitioner was caught in a lie with respect to whether he had ever stayed at the Clarion Hotel, A.R. 725-26, and evidence, presented from multiple witnesses, revealed that Petitioner was paid \$7,000.00 just hours after the murder. A.R. 729, 865, 995. Finally, Petitioner posted a photograph on his social media account depicting his child sitting alongside a large sum of cash, which a witness testified was shortly after he received payment from his co-defendant. A.R. 996, 1459.

The record reveals that the Petitioner's absence from a hearing wherein his co-defendant's gang affiliation, past drug dealing, and social media posts could not have reasonably resulted in any prejudice to him. The evidence in support of Petitioner's guilt was clear, and was easily discernible, and recognizable as entirely separate from the evidence as to Mr. Mason's guilt. Thus, to the extent that Petitioner's absence was error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

C. <u>Petitioner's claim that the evidence as to his co-defendant's drug</u> <u>trafficking and gang affiliation violates Rule 10 of the West Virginia</u> <u>Rules of Appellate Procedure. Even if this Court reaches the merits,</u> <u>Petitioner still cannot demonstrate he is entitled to relief.</u>

The final issue Petitioner raises with respect to the admission of the intrinsic evidence against his co-defendant is that it was not relevant and that it was unfairly prejudicial to Petitioner, and that it was cumulative. Pet'r's Br. at 24. Petitioner's claim, however, relies on a case from the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals that is not applicable to the facts of the instant case, as well as a Louisiana Appellate Court case. Pet'r's Br. at 25-26. Petitioner provides no citation from this Court, nor does he provide any citation to the record in support of his claim. Therefore, this Court should refuse to consider this insufficiently briefed claim pursuant to Rule 10 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure.

The Rules of Appellate Procedure "are not mere procedural niceties; they set forth a structured method to permit litigants and this Court to carefully review each case." Administrative Order, *Filings That Do Not Comply With the Rules of Appellate Procedure* (W. Va. Supreme Court, Dec. 10, 2012). The Rules of Appellate Procedure require that "[t]he brief . . . contain an argument exhibiting clearly the points of fact and law presented." W. Va. R. App. P. 10(c)(7). In *State v. LaRock*, this Court refused to consider "half-hearted assignments that were not fully developed and argued in [the Petitioner's] brief." 196 W. Va. 294, 302, 470 S.E.2d 613, 621 (1996); *see also, State v. Lilly*, 194 W. Va. 595, 605 n.16, 461 S.E.2d 101, 111 n.16 (1995) ("[C]asual mention of an issue in a brief is cursory treatment insufficient to preserve the issue on appeal." (internal quotation and citation omitted)); *In re S.L.*, No. 19-0789, 2020 WL 1231716, at *2 n.3 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Mar. 13, 2020) (memorandum decision) (declining to address various claims raised by petitioner on appeal because they were "unsupported" and petitioner "fail[ed] to cite to any authority," in violation of Rule 10(c)(7)); *State, Dep't of Health & Hum*.

Res. ex rel. Robert Michael B. v. Robert Morris N., 195 W. Va. 759, 765, 466 S.E.2d 827, 833 (1995) ("[A] skeletal argument, really nothing more than an assertion, does not preserve a claim Judges are not like pigs, hunting for truffles buried in briefs." (internal quotation and citation omitted)).

While this particular claim should be rejected due to its failure to comply with Rule 10, the merits of Petitioner's claim are entirely unsupported. Petitioner offers nothing but abstract and speculative arguments in support of his claim that the evidence was irrelevant or unduly prejudicial to him. Thus, in line with his failure to comply with Rule 10, Petitioner has failed to offer any support, legal or factual, that could reasonably be construed to support his claims. Thus, Petitioner has failed to meet his burden of proof, and his claim should be rejected.

II. The circuit court did not err in refusing to grant a severance of Petitioner's trial, nor was Petitioner's absence from the hearing addressing his codefendant's motion to sever improper. To the extent that Petitioner's absence from the hearing was erroneous, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

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